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Plaintiff Kerry Welsh (“Plaintiff™), on behalf of himself and all others
similarly situatéd throughout the United States (the “Class,” as further defined
below), by and through his undersigned attomeys, hereby complains and alleges,
upon his personal knowledge and the investigation of his counsel, as follows:

NATURE OF THE ACTION
1. This is a proposed class action against Gogo LLC (“Gogo” or

“Defendant”) for misleading consumers about recurring charges for its in-flight
Internet service.

2. According to a recent report, thirty-eight percent of domestic flights in
the United States, or 8,700 flights, now offer in-flight Internet (Wi-Fi) connectivity
for travelers. |

3. Gogo dominates that market, providing its n-flight Wi-Fi service on
more than eighty percent of all Wi-Fi-enabled flights in North America.

4. Gogo recently had an initial public offering (IPO), in part to fund
expansion of its in-flight Wi-Fi service to international flights. According to the
New York Times, “the Gogo offering went off against the sobering reality that, so
far, only a small number of passengers have been choosing to pay for [in-flight]
Wi-Fi. "

5. To counteract that “sobering reality,” Gogo unfairly and improperly

increases its profits by misleading customers into purchasing a service that

! See Joe Sharkey, In-Flight Wi-Fi Still Costly, but More Available, N.Y. Times,
June 24, 2013, available at http://www.nytimes.com/2013/06/25/business/in-flight-
wi-fi-still-costly-but-more-available.html; Ben Mutzabaugh, Routehappy unveils
report card for in-flight Wi-Fi, USA Today, June 25, 2013,
http:/lwww.usatoday.com/story/todayinthesky/il()13/06/25/r0utehappy—unveils—
report-card-for-in-flight-wi-fi/2454565/.

* Sharkey, In-Flight Wi-Fi Still Costly, but More Available.

WELSH V. GOGO LLC 2
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automatically charges a customer’s credit card or other payment source on a
recurring, monthly basis without notice.

6.  Moreover, as detailed further below, Gogo presents customer account
information on its website in a misleading manner that does not indicate the
recurring charges.

7. In February 2011 and again in August 2011, Mr. Welsh subscribed to
Gogo’s mn-tlight Wi-Fi service based on a representation that he was signing up for
the service for one month.

8. Mr. Welsh was charged for just one month in February 2011, but he
incurred several hundreds of dollars in monthly charges from September 2011
through December 2012 that he did not authorize after he purchased a one-month
package in August 2011. The charges to his credit card only stopped after he
contacted Gogo to cancel the service, even though he had not authorized a
recurring charge to his credit card.

9. Nor had Mr. Welsh received any form of monthly bill or other
monthly communication notifying him that he would be charged each month.

10. When Mr. Welsh personally contacted Gogo himself and requested a
refund for the service for the time periods he was charged and paid for the service
but did not use it, but Gogo did not provide a full refund.

I1. Accofding to postings on the Internet, many customers have been
duped into purchasing Gogo’s service with a recurring charge, and attempts to

receive full refunds have been unsuccessful.®

i See, e.g., Comments to iPhone 1.D., Review: Gogo Inflight Internet -- Wi-Fi on a
plane, June 13, 2011, http://www.iphonejd.com/iphone_jd/2011/06/review-gogo-
inflight-internet-wi-fi-on-a-plane.html (e.g., “They will charge your credit card
every month, but they will not send you an email notice. Then, when you discover
the charges one your credit card statement (three months later), they will make it a
royal pain in the ass for you to cancel the service.”); RipoffReport.com, GoGo

WELSH v. GoGo LLC 3
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12. Mr. Welsh brings this action, on his own behalf and on behalf of a
nationwide Class of Gogo customers, to seek redress for Gogo’s unfair and
unlawful practices described herein.

THE PARTIES
13. Plaintiff Kerry Welsh is a resident of Rancho Palos Verdes,

California. As alleged herein, Mr, Welsh incurred monetary damages as a result of
Gogo’s misleading description of its service charges on or around August 2011,
and Mr. Welsh was prevented from mitigating the damages in a timely manner as a
result of Gogo’s misleading description of its charges on Mr., Welsh’s account
webpage and the fact that Mr. Welsh received no communications from Gogo on a
monthly basis notifying him of the recurring charges.

14, Defendant Gogo LLC, known as Aircell LLC until 2011, is an
operating subsidiary of Gogo Inc., a public company. Gogo LLC is a Delaware
company based in Itasca, Illinois, with an additional office in Broomfield,
Colorado. Defendant provides in-flight Internet connectivity and wireless in-cabin
digital-entertainment services, as well as voice-communication and video
streaming services to travelers on various airlines. Defendant can be served via its
registered agent C T Corporation System, located at 208 So. LaSalle 8t., Suite 814,
Chicago, Illinois 60604. Defendant’s business address js 1250 N. Arlington
Heights Rd., Itasca, Illinois 60143.

Inflight Wifi Aircell Fooled by recurring charges, no statements, and a rejected
refund request Itasca, lllinois, Nov. 28, 2012,

http://www ripoffreport.com/t/GoGo-Inflight-Wifi/Itasca-Illinois-60143/GoGo-
Inﬂigh*l:-Wifi-z‘kir(:ell—l?’oolcd—by—re,curring—charges-no—Statemlents-andma»rejecteclw
refu-975321 (“It took me four months before I noticed that my credit card had been
charged by Gogo for each of those months. T hadn't used the service let alone
logged into the account since the first month. The worst part is that upon calling
customer service, they could confirm that T had not used the service over that time,
yet we're unwilling to reconcile those charges for months with unused services.”).

WELSH v. GoGgo LLC 4
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE

5. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action by

virtue of diversity of citizenship because Plaintiff is a citizen of California and
Defendant is a citizen of Colorado, Delaware, and Hlinois. Additionally, pursuant
to the Class Action Fairness Act of 2005, 28 U.S.C. § 1332(dX(2) (“CAFA™), this
Court has jurisdiction over all class actions where “any member of a class of
plaintiffs is a citizen of a state different from any defendant and the aggregate
amount n controversy exceeds $5,000,000, exclusive of interest and costs.”
Because the proposed Class Plaintiff seeks to represent includes residents from all
fifty states, the Class necessarily includes citizens from states other than the states
Defendant is a citizen of.

16. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant because the
Defendant regularly conducts business in California, has sufficient minimum
contacts with California, and otherwise intentionally avails itself of the laws and
markets of California through the promotion, sale, marketing, and distribution of
its products and services in California.

17. Venue is proper in this District by virtue of 28 U.S.C. § 1391.
Defendant regularly conducts business in this District and purposely avails itself of
the markets of this District through the promotion, sale, marketing, and distribution
of its products and services to residents in this District. In light of the foregoing,
personal jurisdiction over Defendant is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391{¢) if

this District was considered a separate state.

WELSH V. GoGO LI.C 5
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ALLEGATIONS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION

18.  Plaintiff purchased in-flight Internet service from Gogo on February

1, 2011, for $39.95 in reliance on the representations on Gogo’s registration
website that he would be charged $39.95 for a month of service. He was charged
for just one month of service for this purchase.

19. On August 7, 2011, Plaintiff again purchased in-flight Internet service
from Gogo for $39.95 in reliance on the representations on Gogo’s registration
website that he would be charged $39.95 for a month of service.

20.  The service could be used for up to 30 days on any airline. After the
30 days ended on September 7, 2011, Gogo continued to bill Plaintiff’s credit card
$39.95 every month until at least December 2012, even though Plaintiff did not use
the service. Gogo obtained no signature or affirmative authorization to charge for
recurring fees. Nor did Gogo send any form of communication to Plaintiff on a
monthly basis, as is customary with monthly bills, to notify him of the pending
charges that he would incur if he did not cancel his service.

21.  Similarly, every other Class member purchased in-flight Internet
service from Gogo prior to December 31, 2012, using a registration website that
had representations about the monthly cost of the service but had no
representations about the recurring nature of charges for the service.

22.  Defendant’s website currently indicates that the charge for “monthly”
service will be recurring, but it did not do so in 2011. When potential customers
registered for the service, the only representation regarding the price indicated the
price per month ~ e.g., “$39.95 per month.”

23.  In contrast to the prominent representations on Gogo’s registration
website regarding the price for the service, Defendant’s representations omitted

reference to the recurring nature of the charges.

WELSH V. Gogo LLC 6
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
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24.  Nor did Plaintiff or the other Class members have to affirmatively
indicate approval for Gogo to charge recurring charges ~ for example, by
“checking a box™ indicating their understanding that they would be charged every
month until they cancelled the service.

25, Indeed, Plaintiff and other Class members only received notice of the
recurring nature of the charges after régistering for Gogo’s service.

Plaintiff Was Harmed in the Identical Manner as the Class

20.  Plaintiff is in the same Class as all other customers of Gogo during the
relevant time period. Plaintiff inadvertently enrolled in a plan that recurrently
charged his credit card without any authorization or proper disclosure. Plaintiff
was never informed nor was he reimbursed for all of the recurring charges.

27.  Plaintiff incurred charges for a service he did not use, nor would have
used for each month he was charged for the service. Plaintiff would never have
incurred these charges if Defendant had notified him of the payment scheme and
requested authorization to continuously bill his credit card.

Gogo Benefits Greatly From Its Undisclosed And Unauthorized
Charges

28.  Gogo possesses a strong ulterior motive to charge its customers’ credit

and debit cards on a recurring basis because, upon mformation and belief, it
generates thousands, if not millions, of dollars in revenue for services that are not
redeemed.

29. Moreover, the in-flight Internet service is often used by executives

and business travelers who do not personally review company and work-related

expenses.  For this reason, these charges may go undetected for months, or even
years, particularly given the obscure manmer in which Defendant’s website

displays account information. Because Gogo’s customers may get charged

WELSH V. GOGO LLC 7
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
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indefinitely for their services, and because Gogo does not offer full refunds to
those who notice the fraudulent billing in time, the injury is substantial,

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

30.  Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of himself and a proposed class
(the “Class”) consisting of all others similarly situated. The Class Plaintiff seeks to
represent is defimed as including all people residing in the United States who, at
any time between July 25, 2009, and December 31, 2012 (the “Class Period™),
incurred monthly fees for Gogo in-flight Internet service for months that the
customers did not use the service. Excluded from the Class are Defendant, any
entity in which Defendant has a controlling interest, any officers or directors of
Defendant, and the legal representatives, heirs, successors, and assigns of
Defendant.

31, Plaintiff also brings this action on behalf of a proposed subclass (the
“California Sub-Class™) consisting of all other similarly situated California
residents. The California Sub-Class is defined as including all California residents
who, at any time between July 25, 2009, and December 31, 2012, incurred monthly
fees for Gogo in-flight Internet service for months that the customers did not use
the service. Excluded from the California Sub-Class are Defendant, any entity in
which Defendant has a controlling interest, any officers or directors of Defendant,
and the legal representatives, heirs, successors, and assigns of Defendant.

32.  Plaintiff brings this action pursuant to Rule 23(b)(2) and (b)(3) of the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

33.  Numerosity of the Class: Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a)(1): The size of the

Class is so large that joinder of all Class members is impracticable. Class members
number in the thousands. The precise number of Class members and ‘their

addresses are unknown to Plaintiff but can be obtained from Defendant’s records.

WELSH v. GoGgo LLC 8
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Class members can be notified of the pendency of this action by mail,
supplemented by published notice if necessary.
34.  Existence and Predominance of Common Questions of Fact and Law;

Fed. R, Civ. P. 23(a)(2), (b)(3): There are questions of law and fact common to the

Class. These questions predominate over any questions affecting only individual
Class members. These common legal and factual questions include:
a. whether Defendant’s practices described herein constituted
unlawful, unfair, or fraudulent business practices in violation of
California Civil Code § 1750 er seq. and/or California Business
and Professions Code § 17200 ef seq.;
b. whether Defendant’s practices described herein constituted false
advertising in violation of California Civil Code § 1750 et seq.,
California Business and Professions Code § 17200 er seq., and/or
California Business and Professions Code § 17500 et seg.; and
¢. whether Defendant properly disclosed that monthly charges would
be recurring for its in-flight Internet service.

35.  Typicality: Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(2)(3); Plaintiff’s claims are typical of

the Class because Plaintiff’s credit card had been charged without his knowledge
or prior authorization for an ongoing, recurring service of which he did not avail
himself.

36. Adequacy: Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a)(4): Plaintiff is an adequate

representative of the Class because his interests do not conflict with the interests of

the Class. Plaintiff will prosecute this action vigorously and is highly motivated to
seck redress against Defendant on behalf of himself and all other Class members,
Plaintiff has selected counsel that is experienced in class actions. The interests of

the Class will be fairly and adequately protected by Plaintiff and his counsel.

WELSE V. GoGo LLC 9
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37.  Superiority; Fed. R. Civ. P, 23(b)(3): The class action mechanism is

superior to other available means for the fair and efficient adjudication of this
controversy.

a. The damages suffered by individual Class members are small
compared to the burden and expense of individual prosecution of
the complex and extensive litigation needed to address Defendant’s
conduct.

b. Further, it would be virtually impossible for the Class members
individually to redress effectively the wrongs done to them. Even
if Class members themselves could afford such individual
litigation, the court system could not. Individualized litigation
would unnecessarily increase the delay and expense to all parties
and to the court system and presents a potential for inconsistent or
contradictory rulings and judgments. By contrast, the class action
device presents far fewer management difficulties, allows the
hearing of claims which might otherwise go unaddressed because
of the relative expense of bringing individual lawsuits, and
provides the benefits of single adjudication, economies of scale,
and comprehensive supervision by a single court.

¢. The prosecution of separate actions by the individual members of
the Class would create a risk of inconsistent or varying
adjudications with respect to individual Class members, which
would establish incompatible standards of conduct for Defendant.

d. The prosecution of separate actions by individual Class members
would create a risk of adjudications with respect to them which
would, as a practical matter, be dispositive of the interests of other

Class members not partics to the adjudications, or would

WELSH V. GOGO LLC 10
{CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
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substantively impair or impede their ability to protect their
interests.
e. Plaintiff is unaware of any other litigation or class action already
pending against Defendant for the conduct complained of herein.
38.  Notice - Plaintiff and their counsel anticipate that notice to the
proposed class will be effectuated by through direct notice both through electronic

mail and U.S. mail.

CAUSES OF ACTION
FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
{Viclation of California’s Consumers Legal Remedies Act,
Cal. Civ. Code § 1750 et seq.)
{on behalf of the California Sub-Class)

39.  Plaintiff incorporates by reference and realleges all paragraphs
previously alleged herein.

40.  Defendant provides “services™ within the meaning of Cal. Civ. Code
§8 1761(h) and 1770.

41.  Defendant is a “person” within the meaning of Cal. Civ. Code §§
1761(c) and 1770.

42.  Purchasers of Defendant’s service, including Plaintiff and the other
members of the California Sub-Class, are “consumers” within the meaning of Cal.
Civ. Code §§ 1761(d) and 1770.

43.  Plaintiff and each and every purchase of Defendant’s service by
members of the California Sub-Class constituted a “transaction” within the
meaning of Cal. Civ. Code §§ 1761(e) and 1770.

44.  The policies, acts, and practices of Defendant as described above were

intended to result in the sale of services to Plaintiff and members of the California

WELSHV. GoGo LLC i
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
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Sub-Class.  These actions violated, and continue to violate, the California
Consumers Legal Remedies Act in at least the following aspects;

a. m violation of Cal. Civ. Code § 1770(a)(4), Defendant made
deceptive representations in connection with the service in
question;

b. in violation of Cal. Civ. Code § 1770{a)}(5), Defendant represented
that its service has characteristics, uses, or benefits which it did not
have;

¢. i violation of Cal. Civ. Code § 1770(a)(9), Defendant advertised
its service with the intent not to sell it as advertised:

d. m violation of Cal. Civ. Code § 1770(a)(14), Defendant
represented that its service conferred or involved rights, remedies,
or obligations which it did not have, or which were prohibited by
law; and

e. in violation of Cal. Civ. Code § 1770(a)(19), Defendant attemnpted
to insert unconscionable provisions into contracts between it and
Plaintiff and between it and the other members of the California
Sub-Class.

45.  Through its advertising and promotional materials, Gogo made
misrepresentations to consumers, and engaged in omissions, that were material to
all reasonable consumers who accessed, or contemplated accessing, Gogo’s in-
flight Internet service. These and similar misrepresentations were broadly
disseminated to all members of the California Sub-Class in substantially the same
form via Gogo's website and other advertising and marketing materials.

46.  Plaintiff and the other members of the California Sub-Class suffered
harm as a result of Defendant’s misrepresentations and omissions, which caused

Plaintiff and the other members of the California Sub-Class to unwittingly lose

WELSH v. GoGgo LL.C 12
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
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funds, As a direct result of these transactions, Plaintiff and the other members of
the California Sub-Class Class have incurred monthly charges believed to amount
to over five million dollars in the aggregate.

47.  In accordance with Cal. Civ. Code § 1782(a), Plaintiff, through his
undersigned counsel, sent a notice letter to Gogo via certified mail on Wednesday,
July 24, 2013, demanding, inter alia, that Gogo provide correction and remedy to
Plaintiff and all consumers similarly situated with regard to the practices alleged
herein to be in violation of § 1770, '

48.  Despite demand therefore, Defendant has failed to offer an
appropriate correction and remedy for each of the issues raised herein, Therefore,
Plamtiff brings this action pursuant to Cal. Civ, Code §§ 1780 and 1781 and seeks
restitution, and compensatory and punitive damages.

49.  Furthermore, the above-described acts and practices committed by
Defendant are in violation of Cal. Civ. Code §§ 1780(b) and 3345, entitling
members of the California Sub-Class to damages and/or $5,000 per person, to the
extent that such members are senior citizens within the meaning of Cal. Civ. Code
§ 1761().

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
(Violation of California’s Unfair Competition Law,
Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 et seq,)

(on behalf of the California Sub-Class)

50.  Plaintiff incorporates by reference and realleges all paragraphs

previously alleged herein,
51. Defendant’s acts and practices as described herein constitute
unlawful, fraudulent, and/or unfair business acts and practices in that:
a. Defendant’s practices, as described herein, violated cach of the

statutes set forth in this complaint;

WELSH V. GoGo LLC 13
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
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b, the justification for Defendant’s conduct was outweighed by the
gravity of the consequences to Plaintiff and the other members of
the California Sub-Class;

¢. Defendant’s conduct was immoral, unethical, oppressive,
unscrupulous, or substantially injurious to Plaintiff and the other
members of the California Sub-Class: and/or

d. Defendant’s conduct, advertising, and written and oral promotional
materials constituted fraudulent, untrue, or misleading advertising
in that such conduct or advertising had a tendency to deceive
Plamtiff and the other members of the California Sub-Class.

52.  Such conduct violates Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 et seq. (as well
as other similar state unfair competition and unlawful business practices statutes).

53.  Defendant’s unlawful, fraudulent, and/or unfair business acts and
practices are described herein and include, but are not limited to, the following: (1)
making or omitting materially false and misleading statements concerning Gogo's
in-flight Internet service and (2) causing increased harm to customers who register
for in Gogo’s in-flight Internet service through all related fees, charges, and other
expenses.

54.  Plaintiff has suffered injury in fact and has lost money or property as a
result of the unlawful, fraudulent, and/or unfair business acts described herein.

55.  Pursuant to Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200, 17203, and 17204,
Plaintiff seeks relief, on his behalf and on behalf of the California Sub-Class, as
prayed for below.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION

(False Advertising in violation of
California’s False Advertising Law, Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17500 et seq.)
(on behalf of the California Sub-Class)

WELSH v. GoGo LLC 14
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
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56.  Plaintiff incorporates by reference and realleges all paragraphs
previously alleged herein,

57. Gogo’s registration website, as well as Gogo’s other written and oral
promotional materials and efforts constitute advertising disseminated by
Defendant, which advertising contained statements which are untrue and/or
misleading, or which omitted material information, and which are known, or by the
exercise of reasonable care should have been known, to be deceptive, untrue, or
misleading by Defendant in violation of Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17500 et seq. (as
well as other similar state false advertising statutes).

58. Pursuant to Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200, 17203, 17204, and
17500, Plaintiff seeks relief, on his behalf and on behalf of the California Sub-
Class, as prayed for below.

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION
(Breach of the Implied Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing)

59.  Plaintiff incorporates by reference and realleges all paragraphs
previously alleged herein.

60. TImplicit within any agreement that Plaintiff and the other Class
members may have entered into with respect to the service described herein is a
covenant by Defendant to act in good faith and deal fairly with Plaintiff and the
other Class members.

61.  Defendant breached this implied covenant of good faith and fair
dealing by intentionally, knowingly, willfully, unreasonably, recklessly, arbitrarily,
frivolously, and/or maliciously:

a. promoting (Gogo’s in-flight Internet service but omitting the
payment scheme from the materials available to customers at the

time of initial purchase;

WELSH V. Goco LLC 15
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b. refusing to offer full refunds to customers who were charged on a
recurring basis without their authorization; and
c. for such other conduct to be disclosed in discovery.
62.  As a result of Defendant’s conduct as described herein, Plaintiff and
the other Class members have suffered loss and damage.
FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION

{(Violation of Varieus Consumer Protection Acts)

63. Plaintiff incorporates by reference and realleges all paragraphs
previously alleged herein.

64.  Plaintiff brings his statutory fraud claims pursuant to the substantially
similar Consumer Fraud Acts of all United States, all of which were enacted and
designed to protect consumers against unlawful, fraudulent, and/or unfair business
acts and practices. See, e.g., Illinois’ Consumer Fraud and Deceptive Business
Practices Act, 815 Ill. Comp. Stat. 505/1 er seq. (the “Illinois Consumer Fraud
Act”) 4

+8ee also Ala. Code § 8-19-1 er seq. (Alabama), Alaska Stat. § 45.50.471 et seq.
(Alaska); Ariz. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 44-1521 er seq. (Arizona); Ark. Code Ann. § 4-
88-101 et seq. (Arkansas); Colo. Rev. Stat. § 6-1-105 ez seq. (Colorado); Conn.
Gen. Stat. § 42-110a (Connecticut); Del. Code Ann. Tit. 6, § 2511 et seq.
(Delaware); D.C. Code Ann. § 28-3901 et seq. (District of Columbia); Fla. Stat,
Anmn, § 501.201 et seq. (Florida); Ga. Code Ann. § 10-1-390 et seq. (Georgia);
Haw. Rev. Stat. § 481A-1 er seq. and Haw. Rev. Stat. § 480-1 et seq. (Hawaii);
Idaho Code § 48-601 et seq. (Idaho); Kan. Stat. Ann § 50.623 et seq. (Kansas); Ky.
Rev. Stat. § 367.11.0 et seq. (Kentucky); La. Rev. Stat, Ann. § 51:1401 er seq.
{(Louisiana); Me. Rev. Stat. Ann. Tit. 3, § 205-A et seq. (Maine); Md. Com. Law
Code Ann. § 13-101 et seq., Md. Corn. Law Code Ann. § 13-301 et seq., Md. Com
Law Code Ann, § 13-408 ez seq. (Maryland); Mass Gen. L. ch. 93A
(Massachusetts); Mich. Stat. Ann. § 445.901 ez seq., Mich. Stat. Ann. § 19.418(1)
et seq. (Michigan); Minn. Stat, § 325F.68 et seq., Minn. Stat. § 8.31 (Minnesota);
Miss. Code Ann. § 75-24-3 ez seq. (Mississippi); Mo. Rev. Stat. § 407.010 et seq.
(Missouri); Mont. Code Ann. § 30- 14-101 er seq. (Montana); Neb. Rev. Stat.§ 59-
1601 et seq. (Nebraska); Nev. Rev. Stat. § 41.600 and Nev. Rev. Stat. § 598.0903

WELSH V. GaGo LLC 16
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65.  Section 2 of the Tilinois Consumer Fraud Act provides, in pertinent

part:

Unfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive
acts or practices, including but not limited to the use of or
employment of any deceptive, fraud, false pretense, false
promise, misrepresentation or the concealment,
suppression or omission of any material fact, with intent
that others rely upon the concealment, suppression or
omission of such material fact, or the use of employment
of any practice described in Section 2 of the “Uniform
Deceptive Trade Practices Act,” approved August 5,
1965, in the conduct of any trade or commerce are
hereby declared unlawful whether any person has in fact
been misled, deceived or damaged thereby, In construing
this section consideration shall be given to the
interpretations of the Federal Trade Commission and the
federal courts relating to Section 5(a) of the Federal
Trade Commission Act.

815 IIL. Comp. Stat. 505/2 (footnotes omitted).

et seq. (Nevada); N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 358:1 er seq. (New Hampshire); N.J. Rev.
Stat. § 56:8-1 ez seq., N.J. Rev. Stat. § 56:12-1 ¢ seq. (New Jersey); N.M. Stat.
Ann, § 57-1.2-1 et seq. (New Mexico); N.Y. Gen. Bus. Law. § 349 er seq. (New
York); N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-1 et seq. (North Carolina); N. D. Cent. Code § 51-15-
01 et seq. (North Dakota); Ohio Rev. Code Ann. § 1345.01 et seq. (Ohio); Okla.
Stat. Tit. 15, § 751 et seq. (Oklahoma); Ore. Rev. Stat. § 646.605 et seq. (Oregon);
Penn. Stat. § 201-1 er seq. (Pennsylvania); Laws of P. R. Ann. Tit. 10, § 259 et seq.
(Puerto Rico); R.I. Gen. Laws § 6-13.1:1 & seq. (Rhode Island); S.C. Code Ann.
39-5-10 et seq. (South Carolina); S.D. Codified Laws Ann. 37-24.1 et seq. (South
Dakota); Tenn. Code Ann. § 47-18-101 ez seq. (Tennessee); Tex. Bus. & Comm.
Code Ann. § 17.41 et seq. (Texas); Vt. Stat. Ann. Tit, 9, § 2451 et seq. (Vermont);
Va. Code Ann. § 59.1-196 et seq. (Virginia); Wash. Rev. Code § 19.86.010 er seq.
(Washington); W.Va. Code § 46A-6-101 ef seq. (West Virginia); and Wyo. Stat. §
40;12-101 ef seq. (Wyoming). These consumer protection acts are modeled after
the FTC’s consumer protection provisions and are collectively referred to herein,
along with Illinois” and California’s consumer protection statutes, as the
“Consumer Acts.”

WELSH V. GOGO LLC 17
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66.- Plaintiff and the other members of the Class have standing to assert
claims under the Consumer Acts because they are consumers within the meaning
of the Consumer Acts and Defendant’s practices were addressed to the market
generally and otherwise implicate consumer protection concerns. At all relevant
times, Defendant conducted "trade and commerce" within the meaning of the
Consumer Acts. See, e.g., 815 Ill. Comp. Stat. 505/1(f).

67.  Defendant has committed unlawful, frandulent, and/or unfair business
acts and practices by engaging in the acts and practices alleged herein including,
but not limited to, failing to disclose that it would charge consumers for its in-flight
Internet service on a monthly basis until cancellation.

68.  Defendant intended that Plaintiff and the other Class members would
rely on the unlawful, fraudulent, and/or unfair business acts and practices alleged
herein so that they would purchase Gogo’s in-flight Internet service.

69. Defendant’s actions, which were willful and wanton, constitute
intentional violations of the Consumer Acts.

70.  Defendant’s unlawful, fraudulent, and/or unfair business acts and
practices described herein are continuing in nature and are widespread practices.
Plaintiff and the other members of the Class have been damaged as a proximate
result of Defendant’s course of conduct and its violations of the Consumer Acts
because they paid for a service that they did not intend to pay for and did not use,
and the fecs they were charged for that service were not properly disclosed.

71.  Plaintiff and Class members respectfully request an award of all
compensable damages, and attorneys’ fees, costs, and expenses to be assessed
against Defendant, within the limits set forth by applicable law.

72.  Therefore, Plaintiff prays for relief as set forth below.

WELSHYV. GoGo LIC 18
CLass ACTION COMPLAINT
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SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION
{(Unjust Eurichment)

73.  Plaintiff incorporates by reference and realleges all paragraphs
previously alleged herein.

74. By selling its in-flight Internet service through unfair and deceptive
practices, Defendant has engaged in inequitable conduct and has recejved a benefit
at the expense of consumers, including Plaintiff and the other Class members.

75. At the time of their purchase of the Gogo service, Plaintiff and the
other Class members conferred a benefit ~ i.e., money and substantial revenue —
on Defendant.

76.  For the reasons described herein, the profits and/or benefits obtained
by Gogo through sales of its in-flight Internet service are to the determent of
Plamtiff and the other Class members and violate the fundamental principles of
justice, equity, and good conscience.

77. Such benefits constitute unjust enrichment for Defendant, and it
would be inequitable under the circumstances for it to retain the benefits received.

78.  Therefore, Plaintiff prays for relief as set forth below.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, on his own behalf and on behalf of the Class, prays

for relief as follows:

A.  for an order certifying the Class and the California Sub-Class and
appointing Plaintiff and his counsel to represent the Class and the California Sub-
Class;

B.  for an order awarding Plaintiff and the other Class members actual
and compensatory damages in an amount which will be proven at trial;

C.  for an order awarding Plaintiff the Class restitution and/or

disgorgement and other equitable relief as the Court deems proper;

WELSH V. GOGO LLC 19
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D,  for an order awarding Plaintiff and the Class punitive damages as to

the appropriate cause;

E.  For an order awarding such other and further relief as this Court may

deem just and proper.

WELSHV, GOGO LIC
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DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury of all claims set forth above.

Dated: September 17, 2013

Respectfully submitted,

L
,////gé/é’?ﬁ .
Michael R. Reese
mreese@reeserichman.com
REESE RICHMAN LLP
875 Ave. of the Americas, 18th Flr.
New York, New York 10001
Telephone: (212) 643-0500
Facsimile: (212) 253-4272

Counsel for Plaintiff

WELSH V. GOGO LLC
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

NOTICE OF ASSIGNMENT TO UNITED STATES JUDGES

This case has been assigned to District Judge Otis D. Wright II and the assigned
Magistrate Judge is Charles F. Eick

The case number on all documents filed with the Court should read as follows:

2:13CV6899 ODW Ex

Pursuant to General Order 05-07 of the United States District Court for the Central District of
California, the Magistrate Judge has been designated to hear discovery related motions.

All discovery related motions should be noticed on the calendar of the Magistrate Judge.

Clerk, U, S. District Court

September 18, 2013 By ].Prado
Date Deputy Clerk
NOTICE TO COUNSEL

A copy of this notice must be served with the summons and complaint on all defendants (if a removal action is
filed, a copy of this notice must be served on all plaintiffs).

Subsequent documents must be filed at the following location:

Western Division [] Southern Division [] Eastern Division
312 N. Spring Street, G-8 411 West Fourth St., Ste 1053 3470 Twelfth Street, Room 134
Los Angeles, CA 90012 Santa Ana, CA 92701 Riverside, CA 92501

Failure to file at the proper focation will result in your documents being returned to you.

CV-18 (08/13} NOTICE OF ASSIGNMENT TO UNITED STATES JUDGES
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AO 440 (Rev. 12/09) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the

Central District of California

KERRY WELSH, en behalf of himself and.

all others similarly sitnated, | ) Ej z A A :
- YUY LD =000 e e
Plaintiff ) N 2"} ij @ @ ? E{}\f\j kk”/}(\
V. 3 Civil Action No.
GOGO LLC i
Defendant ‘ )

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendont’s name and address) Gogo LLC
cfo CT Corporation System
208 So. LaSalle 5t., Suite 814,
Chicago, lllinois 60604

A lawsuit has been filed against you,

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the Uniled States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a}(2) or (3} — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:  REESE RICHMAN LLP

375 Avenue of Americas 1808
New York, NY 10001

if you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

Date:
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AC 440 (Rev. 12/09) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)
Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P, 4 (1))

This summons for frame of individual and iitte, if amp)

was received by me on (date)

1 1 personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ,or

(3 Ileft the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with fname)

, @ person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on {date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or
O 1 served the Summons oN (rame of individual) , who is
designated by law 1o accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)
on (dare) , or
£1 Ireturned the summons unexecuted because ;or
0O Other (specifi):
My fees are § for travel and $ for services, for a total of § 0.00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:

Server's signature

Printed nmne and title

Server's address

Additional information regarding attempted service, ete:
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT, CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
CIVIL COVER SHEET

i (a) PLAINTIEFS { Check box If you are representing yourself h
KERRY WELSH, an beha!f of himself and all others similarly sitsated

GogolLC

DEEENDANTS  { Check box ifyou are reprasenting yourseff [ | )

{b) Attorneys {Firm Name, Address and Telephone Number, If you
are representing yourself, provide same Information.)

Reese Richman LLP
875 Avenue of Americas 1808
New York, NY 10001

(b) Attorneys (Firm Name, Address and Telephone Number. If you
are representing yourself, provide same infarmation.)

1t. BASIS OF JURISDICTION (Place an X in one box enly.) HNi. CITZENSHIP OF PRINCIPAL PARTIES-For Diversity Cases Only
{Place an X in ore box for plaintiff and one for defendant)
. PTF DEF oo PTF DEF
7 1. US. Government []3 Fedesal Guestion (U.S. Citizen of This State 1 {1 IncororatedorPrincipalPlace 4 7 4
Plaintff Government Not a Party} B of Business in this State
Cittzen of AnatherState ]2 7] 2 Incorporated and Principal Place s ® s
. . . -, R " ; of Business in Anather Statg
2. U.5. Governmant 4, Diversity (Indicate Citizenship  |Citizen or Subject of 2 Foreian Nati -
Defendant of Parties in ltem 1ll) Foreign Country {13 [J3 ForeignNation & 0s
V. ORIGIN (Place an X in one box only.} 5. Mutt
1. Original 2. Removed from 3, Bernanded from 4, Reinstated or 5. Transferred from Another .DAu[ “‘_t
Proceeding L3 State coun L Appeflate Court £ Reopened L3 st Specify) L uﬂ;gﬁn

V. REQUESTED IN COMPLAINT: JURY DEMAND: Yes [] No
CLASS ACTION under F,

R.QwP. 23 [X]Yes [ INo

MONEY DEMANDED IN COMPLAINT: S

{Check "Yes" only if demanded in complaint.)

Vi CAUSE OF ACTION [Cite the U.S. Civil Statute under which you are filin
Violations of Cal. Civ. Code § 1750, et seq, (Consumer Leget Remedias Act),

g and write a brief statement of cause. Do not cite jurisdictional statutes unless diversity.)

17500, et seq {False Advertising Law) among other violations of California and other state law.

Cal. Bus. & Prof. Zode § 17200, et seq. {Unfair Competition Law), and Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §

VIl NATURE OF SUIT (Place an X in one hox only).

{1 OTHER STATUTES " "IT. "7 CONTRACT - | REALPROPERTY.CONTL| . IMMIGRATION -] “'PRISONER PETITIONS - PROPERTY RIGHTS 7]
7] 375 False Claims At {L] 110 Instirance ] 240Torts to Land [ 162 lh_lat;gralizaﬂon Habeas Corpus: [7] 820 Copyrights
0] 400 State (] 120 Marine [[] 245Tont Product pplication [3 463 Alien Detainee ] 830 Patent
Reapportionmant Liabifity 465 Other [] 310 Motions toVacate | =
[[] 410 Antitrust [3 130 Mitler Act [] 290 All Other Real . Immigration Action Sentence (7 840 Trademark

i Property TORTS 1177 830 Generat 3 SOCIAL SECURITY = . ]
i 140 Negotiable - : TUILIAL & S J
- 4;0) ia"ksa“d l;"::“c "= Instrument PERSONAL PROBERTY FERCONAL PROPERTY. |[] 235 Death Penaly o 85T HATSOS
4 QMIMerce ] — - T
150 Recovery of  |LTERA R LT 370 Other Fraud Lhint Othen 05T
C Rererete Overpayment& ] 310 Airplane - . ] : L] 862Black Lung (923;
] 460 Departation Enforcement of ; [} 37t Truthin Lending [[] 540 Mendamus/Gther  |[ ] 863 DIWC/DIWW (405 (o))
Tudgment ] 315 Afrplane N
470 Racketser Influ- J Product Liability [ 3800Other Personal | [7] 550.Civit Rights 3 864 551D Title X\
O enced & Corrupt Org. 1] 151 Medicare Act O géo éssau!t. Libel & Property Damage 555 Prison Condition [ 865 RSt (405 ()
] . ner
L1280 Corsumer Credle | _ 352 e Staunt [] 330 Fed Employers’ | Producttingiiny | 560 Ciil Detainee FEGERAL TAX SUITS 7
[ 490 Cable/Sat 7V S Loan (Bt vet) | Ladiity TTTBANKRUPTEY 71 Contnaot FEDERALTAXSUMS. ]
” ] . Vet [ 346 Merine c AR RUE ALY o =17 870 Taxes (LS. Plaintiff or
850 Securities/Com 153 Recovery of 427 Appeal 28 FORFEITURE/PENALTY Defendant)
U modities/Excha e i 345 Marine Product {[] -
"¢ 0] Overpaymentof | [ty usC1ss 625 Drug Relsted [ 871 IRS-Third Party 26 UsC
Mo 8O0 Gther Statutory Vet. Benefits 423 Withdrawal 28 {1 seizure of Prapery 21 7609
[£h, Actions 166 Stockholders |] 350Mator vehicte |1 (s 157 USC 883
7] 891 Agricohural Acts | Suits O g?gdmugttgga\églh:;’e T LCIVILRIGHTS | 690 Other
1300 ", " o
893 Environmental o0 Other [} 449 Other Civil Rights| <=+ D LABOR . -
3 Mattars 1 1 360 Other Personal -
Contract O i i 710 Fair Labor Standards
. jury {3 441 voting |
[1 ggs Freedom of Info. = 195 Contract ! 362 Personal Injury- Act
ot X product Liability Med Malpratice O 44; Elmplgyn;ent M Ezlo ]t.uabor{Mgmr.
[] 896 Arbitration 196 Franchise 265 Personal Injury- 443 Housing elations
D L froduct Liability D Accomadations {7} 740 Raitway Labor Act
899 Admin. Procedures | REALPROPERTY .5 5o ik Carer 443 American with 751 Family and Medical
Act/Review of Appeal of 210 Lang Pharmaceutical [[] Disabilities- . y
ol Leave Act
Agency Decision Condemnation Personal Injury Employment
[T 220 Foreclosure Product Liability 0 446 American with |/ E_Qt? Sé?;ir Labor
n 950 Constitutionality of 230 Rent Lease & |[] '3)68 Asbﬁstps Disabiliies-Other ';919Emmoyee Rt he.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT, CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
CIVil COVER SHEET

Vill. VERUE: Your answers to the questions below will determine the division of the Court 1o which this case wilf most likely be initially assigned. This initie] assignmant
is subjject te change, in accordance with the Court's General Orders, upon review by the Court of your Complaint or Notics of Removal.

Question A: Was this case removed from STATE CASE WAS PENDING IN THE COUNTY OF: INTTIAL DIVISION IN CACD IS
state court?

[ Yes [x] No [T} Los Angeles Western

If "no, " go to Question B, If"yes,"check the |7 Ventura, Santa Barbara, or San Luls Oblspo Western

box to the right that applies, anter the
zorresponding division In response to [7] Orange Southern
Question D, below, and skip to Section iX.

| 7] Riverside or San Bernardine Eastern
Question B: 1s the United States, or one of fthe United States, or one of its agencias or employees, s a panty, s it
fts agencies or employees, a party to this - . : : '
action? R R . ! Y R INITIAL
Do D APLAINTEFR? SO ADEFENDANT?T .00 s 0 DIVISIONIN
L Yes [d o Then check the box befow for the county in. en check the box below for the county in LT
which the majodity of DEFENDANTS resids, - “which the majarlty of PLAINTIFFS reside.
if "no, * go to Question C. If"yes," chackthe {[_] Las Angeles {71 ros Angeles Western
box to the r!ght t'ha.st.apphes, anter the Ventura, Santa Barbara, or San Luis Ventura, Santa Barbara, or San Luis
correspanding division in response to [ ams | . Western
_ . . Obispa Ohispe
Question [, below, and skip to Section IX.
[] Orange [ Crange Southern
[} Riverside or San Bernardino [[] Riverside or San Bernarding tastern
[(] Other [ Cther Western

Indicate the location in which a
majority of plaintiffs reside:
indicate the focation in which a
majority of defendants reside:
Indicate the location in which a
ajority of claims arose:

(O

Colo
=imiim]|
OiR| O

C.1. Is either of the following true? if su, check the one that applies: C.2, s eithar of the followIng true? if so, check the one that applies:
* L] 201 more answers In Column C [ 2ormere answers in Column D
[] enly 1 2nswerin Column € and no answers in Column D [] only t answer in Coliumn D and no atiswers in Column C
Your case will initially be assigned to the Your case will initially be assigned to the
SOUTHERN DIVISION. EASTERN DIVISION,
£nter "Southern" in response to Questien D, below. Enter "Eastern” In response to Question D, helow.
I nona applies, answer question €2 to the right. n} If none applies, go to the box below. ,l,

Your case will initially be assigned to the
WESTERN DIVISION,
Enter "Western™ in response to Question D below,

Question D: Initial Division?

Er-lt-e.r fHe initial division determined by Quesﬁdﬂ A8, dr(: 'abox;e: L .

Western
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT, CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

CIVIiL COVER SHEET
iX{a}. IDENTICAL CASES: Has this action been previcusty filed in this court and dismissed, remanded or closed? NO Lj YES
If yes, list case number(s):
iX(b). RELATED CASES: Have any cases been previously filed in this court that are related to the present case? NO [] YES

If yes, list case numberfs):

Clvil tases are deemed ralated if a previously fifed case and the present case:

(Checkeall boxes that apply) ’:] A. Arise from the same or closely related transactions, happenings, or events; or

D B. Callfor determination of the same or substantially related or similar questions of law and fact; or
[:] C. Forather reasons would entail substantial duplication of fabor if heard by different judges; or

[] & Involve the same patent, trademark or copyright, and one of the factors identified above in a, b or ¢ also s present,

o ot
X. SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY Va2 |
(OR SELF-REPRESENTED LITIGANT): M% e 4 Ly DATE: {W%Mém /E Aoy

Notice to Counsel/Partias: The CV-71 (15-44) Civil Caver Sheet and the information contained herein neither replace nor supplement the filing and service of pieadings or
pther papers as requised by law. This form, approved by the Judicia! Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required pursuant to Local Rule 3-1 s not filed
hutis used by the Clerk of the Court for the purpose of statistics, venue and Initisting the civil docket sheet. {For more detailed instructions, see separate instructions sheet).

Key to Statistical codes relating 1o Social Security Cases:

Nature of Suit Code  Abbreviation Substantive Statemeant of Cause of Action

All clairs for health insurance benefits (Madicara) under Title 18, Part A, of the Social Security Arct, as amendad. Also,

861 HIA include elaims by hospitals, skilfted nursing facilities, etc., for certification as providers of services under the program.
142 U.S.C. 1935FF{b)t

862 BL All claims for "Black Lung" benefits undes Title 4, Part B, of the Federat Coal Mine Health and Safety Act of 1969, (30 US.C
923}

863 DIWC All claimns filed by insured workers for disability insurance benefits under Title 2 of the Sociai Security Act, as amended:; plus
all claims filed for child's insurance benefits based on disability. @2 U.5.C. 405 ()

863 DIV All claims filed for widows or widowers insuranca benefits based on disahility under Titke 2 of the Social Security Act, as
amended, {42 U.S.C. 405 (g))
All claims for supplernental security income payments based upon disability filed undar Title 16 of the Social Security Act, as

BG4 5510 amended

865 RSl All clalras for retirement {old 2ge} and survivors benefits under Title 2 of the Social Security Act. as amended.

{42 U5.C 405 (o)
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